THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas

Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2020-000557

Alison Meyers,Appellant,

v.

Shiram Hospitality, LLC,Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Stephanie H. Burton (#13089)
Gibbes Burton, LLC
308 East St. John St.
Spartanburg, SC 29302
subrton@gibbesburton.com
Telephone: (864) 327-5000
Facsimile: 864-342-6884

Attorneys for Appellant

RECEIVED
Sep 28 2020
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Lower Court err in denying the Motion for Entry of Foreign Judgment?
- II. Did the Lower Court err in finding that Haricharan “Mike” Mishra was not Respondent’s agent and subsequently holding that service of process was improper?
- III. Did the Lower Court err in citing unsupported facts and inapplicable Illinois case law in its order?
- IV. Did the Lower Court err in its dicta that the Illinois default judgment should not be afforded full faith and credit even if service was proper?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 15, 2019, Appellant filed her Notice of Intent to Domesticate Foreign Judgment. Respondent appeared and argued that the judgment should not be enforced because it was not properly served and that the Illinois court did not have personal jurisdiction in the underlying case. On December 4, 2019, a hearing was held before Judge Larry B. Hyman, Jr. without any witnesses. On February 18, 2020, the Lower Court denied domestication ruling that the Illinois default judgment should not be afforded full faith and credit and is null and void pursuant to South Carolina’s Uniform Enforcement of Foreign Judgments Act. Notice of the Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion for Entry of Foreign Judgment (“Order”) was given to the parties on February 24, 2020. Notice of Appeal was served on March 25, 2020. The amount involved in the appeal is \$34,571.77, plus continuing interest at a rate of 9% per annum.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“An action to enforce a foreign judgment is an action at law.” Minorplanet Sys. USA Ltd. v. Am. Aire, Inc., 368 S.C. 146, 149, 628 S.E.2d 43, 44 (2006). In an action at law, tried by a judge without a jury, we accept the findings of the trial court if there is any evidence to support the findings. Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent Shiram Hospitality, LLC does business as a La Quinta hotel located in North Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. (R. p. 15, ¶ 3.) On or about November 13, 2011, Appellant Alison Meyers was at her home in Glenview, Illinois, when she received a call from an employee of the La Quinta named “Cynthia”. (R. p. 16, ¶ 8.) Cynthia told Appellant that her friend was checking in to the La Quinta. (R. p. 16, ¶ 9.) Appellant had previously offer to pay for the friend’s hotel room while the friend and her husband completed their move from Illinois to South Carolina. (R. p. 16, ¶ 9.) Cynthia asked Appellant for her credit card information, which Appellant gave to Cynthia. (R. p. 16, ¶ 10.) Appellant explicitly told Cynthia that she was only giving permission for her credit card to be charged for renting one room for two nights. (R. p. 16, ¶ 11.)

On November 13, 2011, La Quinta charged Appellant’s credit card \$255.06 for the two nights. (R. p. 16, ¶ 12.) On November 15, 2011, La Quinta charged Appellant’s card \$58.24 in spite of explicit instructions to the contrary. (R. p. 17, ¶ 14.) From November 15, 2011 to January 5, 2012, Appellant’s credit card continued to be charged almost daily (and in some cases twice daily) in amounts ranging from \$47.39 to \$58.24. (R. p. 17, ¶¶ 15, 18; R. p. 18, ¶ 20.) On or about January 5, 2012, Appellant contacted the Glenview Police Department in Glenview, Illinois and, after an officer contacted the La Quinta, Respondent finally stopped charging Appellant’s card. (R. p. 18., ¶ 21.) La Quinta charged Appellant’s card beyond the authorized two-night stay for a total of \$3,120.74. (R. p. 18, ¶ 23.) On June 19, 2014, Appellant, through her counsel, made a demand for repayment of the unauthorized charges upon the Respondent via a certified letter, return receipt requested, which was received on or about June 20, 2014. (R. p. 18, ¶ 26.) No response to the letter was received prior to filing suit. (R. p. 18, ¶ 26.)

On November 5, 2014, Appellant filed her complaint in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois. (R. p. 14.) On February 16, 2015 at 3:30 p.m., Horry County Deputy Sheriff Miramane Cox (“Cox”) served Respondent by leaving the Summons and Verified Complaint with Mike Mishra a/k/a Haricharan Mishra. (R. p. 29.) Notably, Mike died in 2018. (R. p. 40, ¶ 3(d); R. p. 84, ¶ 9.) On March 8, 2016, a default judgment was entered against La Quinta Holdings, Inc., Respondent, and Haricharan in the aggregate amount of \$34,571.77.¹ (R. p. 35.) On April 23, 2019, an order was entered *nunc pro tunc* to correct the scrivener’s error misspelling Haricharan’s name as Harichan. (R. pp. 36-37.)

On August 15, 2019, the Notice of Intent to Domesticize Foreign Judgment was filed in this case. (R. p. 30.) On August 29, 2019, Sanjay H. Mishra (“Sanjay”), Respondent’s registered agent, was served in Raleigh, North Carolina. (R. p. 38.) On October 2, 2019, Respondent appeared and filed its Notice of Defense, and Response to Notice to Domesticize Foreign Judgment. (R. pp. 39-41.) On October 16, 2019, Appellant filed her Notice of Motion and Motion for Entry of Foreign Judgment. (R. p. 69.) On November 27, 2019, Appellant filed a Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff’s Notice of Intent to Domesticate a Foreign Judgment. (R. pp. 70-75.) On November 29, 2019, Respondent filed its Memorandum in Opposition [sic] Plaintiff’s Motion for Entry of Foreign Judgment. (R. pp. 76-82.) On December 2, 2019, Respondent filed the Affidavit of Sanjay Mishra. (R. pp. 83-84.) On December 4, 2019, a hearing was held by Judge Larry B. Hyman, Jr. and the matter was taken under consideration. (R. pp. 42-68; R. pp. 3-6.)

¹ \$3,120.74 for compensatory damages, \$24,500.00 for punitive damages, and \$6,951.03 for attorney’s fees and costs.

On February 18, 2020, the Lower Court issued an Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion for Entry of Foreign Judgment that was filed on February 24, 2020. (R. pp. 6-13.) On March 25, 2020, Notice of Appeal was served.

ARGUMENT

This case unfortunately proves true the saying, “No good deed goes unpunished.” Sadly for Appellant, her good-hearted gesture to help a friend in need was taken advantage of by an unscrupulous LaQuinta hotel operator in Myrtle Beach. Likely counting on the probability that no one would sue over \$3,000.00 of fraudulent charges, Respondent attempted to defraud Appellant and run up her credit card beyond the two nights she authorized. Respondent succeeded in avoiding liability for its fraud through a mix of inaccurate facts and inapplicable law provided to the trial court in its proposed draft order. With even the mildest scrutiny, however, the true facts – coupled with correct case law – clearly provide a solid basis for both proper service upon Haricharan “Mike” Mishra as Respondent’s agent as well as personal jurisdiction over Respondent for its intentional directed contact with an Illinois resident. The trial court’s order should be reversed and entry of the Foreign Judgment directed.

I. The Lower Court erred in denying Plaintiff’s Motion for Entry of Foreign Judgment by entering an order that incorporated erroneous facts and inapplicable case law.

Under Article IV, Section 1 of the United States Constitution, “Full Faith and Credit shall be given in each state to the public acts, records, and judicial proceedings of every other State.” U.S. Const. art. IV, § 1. Every state is required to give to a judgment at least the res judicata effect which the judgment would be accorded in the state where rendered. Hosp. Mgmt. Assocs., Inc. v. Shell Oil Co., 356 S.C. 644, 653, 591 S.E.2d 611, 616 (2004). “The judgment debtor may file a motion for relief from, or notice of defense to, the foreign judgment on the grounds that the foreign

judgment has been appealed from, that enforcement has been stayed by the court which rendered it, or on any other ground for which relief from a judgment of this State is allowed.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-35-940(A). “A judgment presumes jurisdiction over the subject matter and over the persons. . . [and] ‘[i]f it appears on its face to be a record of a court of general jurisdiction, such jurisdiction over the cause and the parties is to be presumed unless disproved by extrinsic evidence, or by the record itself.’” Sec. Credit Leasing, Inc. v. Abed N. Armaly, 339 S.C. 533, 541, 529 S.E.2d 283 (Ct. App. 2000). It is clear, that the burden of opposing enforcement of the Illinois judgment in this case is upon Respondent; “[T]he burden of undermining the decree of a sister state ‘rests heavily on the assailant’ . . .” Law Firm of Paul L. Erickson, P.A. v. Boykin, 383 S.C. 497, 504, 681 S.E.2d 575 (S.C. 2009) (emphasis added).

In considering whether the judgment of its sister state should be enforced in this case, this Court must consider Illinois law. “When determining the validity and effect of a foreign judgment based on lack of personal jurisdiction, courts look to the law of the state that rendered the judgment.” Pitts v. Fink, 389 S.C. 156, 163, 698 S.E.2d 626, 629 (Ct. App. 2010). Examination of Illinois law unequivocally demonstrates that the Illinois judgment is enforceable.

A. The Lower Court erred in determining that Haricharan “Mike” Mishra was not an agent of Shiram Hospitality, LLC

It is uncontroverted that Mike was served by Deputy Sheriff Cox with the Summons and Verified Complaint for Respondent in the underlying Illinois matter. (R. p. 30.) Pursuant to Illinois law, Mike is a proper agent of Respondent for service and, as a result, Respondent was properly served.

A private corporation “may be served (1) by leaving a copy of the process with its registered agent *or any officer or agent of the corporation found anywhere* in the State; or (2) *in any other manner now or hereafter permitted by law.*” 735 ILCS 5/2-204 (emphases added).

Illinois law further states that “(a) Personal service of summons *may be made upon any party outside the State* . . . (b) The service of summons shall be made *in like manner as service within this State.*” 735 ILCS 5/2-208(a)(b) (emphases added).

The long arm statute of Illinois prescribes that “[s]ervice of process upon any person who is subject to the jurisdiction of the courts of this State, as provided in this Section, may be made by personally serving the summons upon the defendant outside this State, as provided in this Act, with the same force and effect as though summons had been personally served within this State.” 735 ILCS 5/2-209(d). The statute further provides that “Nothing herein contained limits or affects the right to serve any process in any other manner now or hereafter provided by law.” 735 ILCS 5/2-209(g).

In Illinois, Deputy Sheriff Cox’s return is *prima facie* proof of service. Isaacs v. Shoreland Hotel, 40 Ill. App.2d 108, 110-1, 188 N.E.2d 776, 778 (Ill. App. Ct. 1963). “Where the agency of the person named on the return is disputed, *the defendant has the burden of proving* that the individual served was not a proper person to receive service.” Acosta v. Ashley’s Quality Care, Inc., No. 16 C 5393, 2018 WL 1621021, ¶ 2, (N.D. Ill. 2018) (emphasis added), citing to Island Terrace Apartments v. Keystone Serv. Co., 35 Ill. App. 3d 95, 98, 341 N.E.2d 41, 44 (Ill. App. Ct. 1975).

The burden upon Respondent is high; “To attack a default judgment for lack of personal jurisdiction, *the challenging party must produce evidence* impeaching the return of service *by clear and convincing evidence.*” Charles Austin, Ltd. v. A-1 Food Services, Inc., 2014 IL App (1st) 132384, ¶16, 23 N.E.3d 534, 537 (Ill. App. Ct. 2014) (emphasis added); see also Paul v. Ware, 258 Ill. App. 3d 614, 618, 630 N.E.2d 955, 958 (Ill. App. Ct. 1994). “In making this determination, the Court takes into account all the circumstances surrounding the service and the relationship of

the person served to the party named in the complaint.” Bober v. Kovitz, Shifrin, Nesbit, No. 16 C 5393, 2005 WL 2271861, ¶5 (2005) (internal citation omitted). “Courts are required to indulge every presumption in favor of the return of service.” Freund Equip., Inc. v. Fox, 301 Ill. App. 3d 163, 166, 703 N.E.2d 542, 545 (Ill. App. Ct. 1998). A defendant’s uncorroborated testimony that he was never served *is insufficient to overcome the presumption of service. Id.* (Emphasis added.)

Under Illinois law, a plaintiff is not required to serve solely the registered agent of a company, or even an officer, member, or manager. “[S]ervice on any agent, *including a secretary or receptionist*, is generally sufficient to serve the corporation.” In re Subpoena to Huawei Techs. Co., Ltd., 720 F. Supp. 2d 969, 976 (N.D. Ill. 2010) (emphasis added). The fact that someone was directed not to accept service or was not authorized to do so does not mean that he or she fails to qualify as a corporate agent as described in Section 5/2-204. Bober, 2005 WL 2271861 at ¶5.

Here, Appellant’s underlying Verified Complaint properly alleged that Mike was the managing member of Respondent and that Mike continued to operate the La Quinta as if it were under his personal ownership. (R. p. 15, ¶ 4.) Deputy Sheriff Cox also served

the SUMMONS AND VERIFIED COMPLAINT in this action on the Defendant Shiram Hospitality, LLC by delivering personally to Mike Mishra, a person of discretion FATHER OF AGENT SANJAY H. MISHRA and leaving with said person of discretion; copies of the same at 1601 B. OLD HIGHWAY 17 NORTH, LAQUINTA INN NORTH MYRTLE BEACH, SC in the county and state aforesaid on the 16th day of FEBRUARY 2015; and *that he knows the person so served to be the one mentioned and described in the SUMMONS AND VERIFIED COMPLAINT SHIRAM HOSPITALITY, LLC defendant therein, and also knows that the said person of discretion bears the relation to said defendant or defendants as is hereinbefore stated . . .* (R. p. 29.) (Emphasis added.)

Cox’s affidavit of service clearly states that he knows that Mike is affiliated with Respondent, *in addition* to being the father of Sanjay H. Mishra (“Sanjay”). Thus, *prima facie* evidence of proper service was established, every reasonable presumption is in favor of the return of service, and the

burden shifts to the Respondent to prove otherwise by clear and convincing evidence. See Acosta and Charles Austin, Ltd., *supra*.

As an initial matter, the Lower Court erroneously concluded that “[t]he burden is upon the plaintiff to prove the existence of an agency relationship.” Hickey v. Union Nat’l Bank & Trust Co., 190 Ill. App.3d 186, 547 N.E.2d 4, 8 (Ill. App. Ct. 1989). (R. p. 8.) Hickey, however, is inapposite and inapplicable because the facts of the case relate to a foreclosure on a trust deed and a default judgment was not entered in that matter. Further, Hickey’s holding that the burden is upon the plaintiff was without any prior case law or treatise in support of its premise.

The Lower Court compounded its error by holding that “the party asserting personal jurisdiction has the burden to establish such jurisdiction where it is challenged by a preponderance of the evidence” in reliance on Finnegan v. Les Pourvoires Fortier, Inc., 205 Ill. App. 3d 17, 24-25, 562 N.E.2d 989, 993-994 (Ill. App. Ct. 1990). Finnegan, however, was pointedly overturned eight years later. See Stein v. Rio Parismina Lodge, 296 Ill. App. 3d 520, 524, 695 N.E.2d 518, 521 (Ill. App. Ct. 1998) (“As the court in Finnegan . . . used an erroneous standard of review, we decline to follow the part of Finnegan inconsistent with both this opinion and the long line of Illinois cases partially cited in Finnegan.”).

Moreover, Acosta, Charles Austin, Ltd., Paul Bober, and Stitch-Tec Co., Inc. (*infra*) were decided more recently than Hickey and Finnegan and all hold that the burden is on the defendant to disprove an agency relationship by clear and convincing evidence. Even Island Terrace Apartments, which was decided 15 years prior to Hickey and Finnegan, held that the burden is on the defendant to prove that the individual served was not a proper person. Island Terrace Apartments, 35 Ill. App. 3d at 98, 341 N.E.2d at 44.

The Lower Court also erred in citing to Radosta v. Devil's Heard Ski Lodge and holding that service could only be effectuated "(1) by leaving a copy of the process with its registered agent or any officer or agent of the corporation found anywhere in the State". Radosta v. Devil's Heard Ski Lodge, 172 Ill. App.3d 289, 292, 526 N.E.2d 561, 563 (Ill. App. Ct. 1988). The Illinois statute also prescribes service "(2) *in any other manner now or hereafter permitted by law.*" 735 ILCS 5/2-204 (emphasis added). Radosta is inapposite because that court found that "defendants are not amenable to service of process under the long-arm statute because *they are not alleged to have committed a tortious act in Illinois . . .*" Radosta, 172 Ill. App.3d at 292, 526 N.E.2d at 563 (emphasis added). In direct contrast here, Appellant unequivocally alleges in the Verified Complaint that tortious acts occurred in Illinois.

Nevertheless, just one self-serving affidavit from Sanjay was submitted. Sanjay stated merely that "Service of Process in the case at hand, which was filed and prosecuted in the State of Illinois, was never served personally or by certified or registered mail on Affiant . . ." (R. pp. 83-84.) He also stated that "Mike Mishra was not, and never has been a Member, 'officer, managing or general agent, nor. [sic] any other agent authorized by appointment of [sic] by law to receive service of process . . .' for the Company as described in Rule 4(d)(3), SCRCP," none of which is required under Illinois law to properly effectuate service on a defendant located out of state. (R. p. 84, ¶ 9.) Yet Sanjay's statement is also conclusory without providing any documents relied upon, e.g. certified secretary of state filings, etc. Indeed, the affidavit still failed to deny that Mike was not an employee of Respondent, let alone that Mike never held himself out to be an agent. Moreover, Sanjay's affidavit failed to state why Mike was at the hotel and voluntarily accepted service if he was neither an employee of Respondent nor holding himself out to be an agent thereof.

Regardless, Sanjay's uncorroborated affidavit and testimony is insufficient to overcome the presumption of service. See Freund and Paul *supra*, see also Davis v. Dresback, 81 Ill. 393, 395 (Ill. 1876) ("If the return of a sheriff can be impeached and a judgment and decree vacated upon the evidence alone of the defendant, who has been served with process, that stability which characterizes our judicial proceedings will be lost and a wide door will be opened for the temptation to commit perjury [sic] by the unscrupulous."). Further, Respondent did not present any other evidence at the hearing, by testimony or otherwise, regarding Mike's relationship to Respondent and his involvement in its operations. Thus, Respondent's sole and woefully lacking affidavit is not clear and convincing evidence disproving proper service.

Somewhat confusingly, the Lower Court found that Appellant "offered no affidavit contradicting" the facts that Mike was never a member, officer, managing or general agent, or agent authorized to receive service of process. (R. p. 11.) Of course, one need not be any of these to be a proper person for service under Illinois law, and only an affidavit from Mike himself could support or contradict the sole member's affidavit. Nonetheless, Appellant presented additional exhibits to the trial court that showed Mike acting as an agent/employee of Respondent or holding himself out to be an agent/employee. Exhibit A, a Facebook post from an independent third party, was acknowledged by the Lower Court as identifying Mike as the owner of the La Quinta. (R. p. 58; R. p. 47, lines 20-21.) Exhibit B, Mike's own LinkedIn website profile, identifies him as Managing Director of Respondent. (R. pp. 59-60.) Exhibit C is an article from The Sun News newspaper located in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina, written by David Wren on February 26, 2012. (R. pp. 61-65.) The article stated that Mike signed a utility easement agreement in December 2011

in which he represented that he was the managing member of Respondent.² (R. pp. 63.) At the end of the hearing, the Lower Court kept all exhibits submitted by Appellant. (R. p. 56, lines 8-9.)

“An agent is one appointed by a principal as his representative and to whom the principal confides the management of some business to be transacted in the principal’s name, or on his account, and who brings about or effects legal relationships between the principal and third parties.” Colleton Cty. Taxpayers Ass. v. Sch. Dist. of Colleton Cty., 371 S.C. 224, 239, 638 S.E.2d 685 (2006). Since Respondent never disclaimed the easement in any manner, Mike is undoubtedly an agent of Respondent authorized to conduct legal business because the easement furthered a legal relationship and business agreement with a third-party. Moreover, Mike told *The Sun News* that he was managing the hotel because its owners live in North Carolina. Respondent raised no objection or counterargument.³ During the hearing, the Lower Court stated, “I’ll tell you, it is my impression that Mr. Mishra was an agent.” (R. p. 55, lines 6-7.)

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