THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-26-05254
Appellate Case No. 2020-000557

Alison Meyers,

Appellant,

v.

Shiram Hospitality, LLC,

Respondent.

RECEIVED
Sep 17 2020
SC Court of Appeals

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Fred B. Newby (#4202)
C. Scott Masel (#12497)
Newby, Sartip & Masel, LLC
P.O. Box 808
Myrtle Beach, SC 29578
843/449-9417
Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

A judgment of a court without jurisdiction of the person or of the subject matter is not entitled to recognition or enforcement in another state, or to the full faith and credit provided for in the federal Constitution. *Digital Ally, Inc. v. Light-N-Up, LLC*, 408 S.C. 101 (Ct.App. 2014). The burden of undermining the decree of a sister state rests heavily on the assailant, who can overcome the presumption of jurisdiction and validity by extrinsic evidence, or by the record itself. *Law Firm of Paul L. Erickson, P.A. v. Boykin*, 383 S.C. 497 (2009).

In this case, the evidence of record, namely the Affidavit of Sanjay Mishra, together with the record before the court, establishes (1) Appellant failed to properly serve Respondent with the Illinois lawsuit because Mike Mishra was not the registered agent or other agent of Respondent, and (2) Illinois lacked jurisdiction of Respondent because it was not doing business in, and did not have minimum contacts with, Illinois.

Notably, Appellant submitted to the trial court no substantive affidavits in response to the Affidavit Sanjay Mishra, but instead relied only upon an oral summary, the Affidavit of Substituted Service and three items recently printed from the internet that lack any probative value.

Moreover, the record shows Appellant's Illinois verified complaint was not before Judge Hyman. It was not filed or attached to any filing in this case, it was not referred to in Appellant's pre-hearing memorandum as a document to be examined or analyzed, and it was not referred to by Appellant's counsel at the hearing as a document to be examined or analyzed. While the verified complaint is presumably a public record, Appellant did not request Judge Hyman to take judicial notice of it, and the record shows it was simply not presented to or considered by the trial court. Because Respondent's evidence in this case overwhelmingly supports the trial court's decision, this Court must affirm the Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Entry of Foreign Judgment.

1. THE EVIDENCE SHOWS APPELLANT FAILED TO PROPERLY SERVE RESPONDENT WITH THE ILLINOIS LAWSUIT BECAUSE MIKE MISHRA WAS NOT THE REGISTERED AGENT OR OTHER AGENT OF RESPONDENT.

When determining the validity and effect of a foreign judgment based on lack of personal jurisdiction, courts look to the law of the state that rendered the judgment. *Pitts v. Fink*, 389 S.C. 156 (Ct.App. 2010). Thus, to ascertain whether Respondent was properly served with the Illinois lawsuit, this court looks to Illinois law. Under Illinois law, "if a defendant is not properly served with summons, the court lacks personal jurisdiction over the defendant and any judgment against that party is void. *John Isfan Constr. v. Longwood Towers, LLC*, 2016 IL App (1st) 143211, 52 N.E.3d 510 (2016).

A. Service of Process Under Illinois Law – Foreign Limited Liability Company.

In Illinois, personal jurisdiction can be acquired only by service of process in the manner directed by statute. *State Bank of Lake Zurich v. Thill*, 113 Ill.2d 294 (1986). Under the applicable Illinois statute, a foreign limited liability company "shall be served either upon the registered agent appointed by the limited liability company or upon the Secretary of State as provided in this Section." 805 ILCS 180/1-50(a); See, *Pickens v. Aahmes Temple #132, LLC*, 104 N.E.3d 507,

2018 IL App (5th) 170226 (Ct.App. 2018)(Section 1-50 applies to service of LLC's and is more limited than the statute relating to service upon a private corporation).

Admittedly, this statute was not cited by the parties or the trial court. However, this court “may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.” Rule 220(c), SCRAP. There is no dispute that Respondent is a South Carolina Limited Liability Company. Moreover, there is no dispute that Sanjay Mishra has been the registered agent of Respondent since its inception and Mike Mishra has never been the registered agent. Because Section 180/1-50 requires that service upon a foreign LLC must be upon the registered agent or Secretary of State, Appellant failed to properly serve Respondent under Illinois law, and therefore the trial court's order should be affirmed.

B. Service of Process Under Illinois Law – Foreign Corporation.

In this case, service of the Illinois pleading was not only improper pursuant to 805 ILCS 180/1-50 because Respondent is an LLC, it was also improper under the Illinois statute relating to service upon a foreign corporation.

Similar to South Carolina law, a foreign corporation may be served with Illinois pleadings through its registered agent or any officer or agent of the corporation, so long as it is subject to Illinois jurisdiction under its long arm statute and said jurisdiction is consistent with Due Process.¹ 735 ILCS 5/2-204; 735 ILCS 5/2-209(d). Appellant does not contend she served Respondent's registered agent with the Illinois pleadings, so the inquiry under Section 5/2-204 is whether she served Respondent's “officer or agent” under Illinois law. This is known as substituted service.

In Illinois, “for service of process on a corporation to have been properly made upon an agent of the defendant, the agent must have had **actual authority** to accept service on behalf of the corporation.” *M.B. Fin.Bank, N.A. v. Ted & Paul, LLC*, 2013 Il App (1st) 122077, 990 N.E.2d

¹ Jurisdiction under Illinois' Long Arm Statute and Due Process are discussed below.

764 (2013)(emphasis added). In several Illinois cases, the legal inquiry is “did the employee understand the import of the documents which he or she received?” *See, Aspen Am. Ins. Co. v. Interstate Warehouseing, Inc.*, 2016 IL App (1st) 151876, 57 N.E.3d 656, *reversed on other grounds*, 2017 IL 121281, 418 Ill. Dec. 282, 90 N.E.3d 440 (2017).

While there has been disagreement among the Illinois appellate courts as to which party has the burden to show the presence or absence of an agency relationship, the Supreme Court of Illinois has explained that in cases of substituted service:

“The recital in the return that service was made upon a person who was an agent of the corporate defendant is not, therefore, conclusive and can be denied and placed in issue by the affidavit of the defendant. If the affidavit stands un rebutted or uncontradicted, it is a proper basis for quashing the service.”
Nibco, Inc. v. Johnson, 98 Ill. 2d 166 (1983).

Appellant’s arguments regarding the applicable burden of proof after producing an affidavit of substituted service are confusing, but more importantly, they miss the mark. First, Respondent questions whether Deputy Cox’s Affidavit of Substitute Service could even establish a prima facie case under Illinois law, as it seems to state, and the trial court read it to convey, that the sheriff’s deputy knew Mike Mishra to be the “Father of Agent Sanjay Mishra” rather than agent of Respondent. At best, the affidavit of substituted service is poorly phrased and completely ambiguous.

Second, even if the Affidavit of Substituted Service creates a prima facie presumption of proper service, it is not conclusive under Illinois law, as Respondent filed an affidavit denying Mike Mishra was an agent. To be sure, for the Appellant to succeed on this issue, Illinois law requires Appellant to affirmatively refute Respondent’s affidavit with a counter-affidavit or testimony, which Appellant failed to do. Respondent’s Affidavit of Sanjay Mishra is not only clear and convincing evidence refuting the unclear and ambiguous affidavit of substituted service, it was the only probative and direct evidence before the trial court. Thus, under Illinois law, Sanjay

Mishra's affidavit must be accepted as true and a proper basis to quash service, and therefore the trial court's order should be affirmed.

Appellant also contends the trial court erred by failing to properly consider those allegations contained in her Illinois verified complaint. As stated above, the record reflects this foreign document was not before the trial court, and therefore, these allegations should not be considered on appeal. Even if the verified complaint was before the trial court, which Respondent denies, the trial court did not reference or rule on the effect of said allegations, and therefore this issue is not proper for appeal. *See, Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71 (1998)("It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.")

Even if the verified complaint was before the trial court and the trial court discussed, evaluated and/or ruled on the allegations contained therein, which never happened, it adds no real probative value. The verified complaint's allegations of agency, namely that Mike Mishra is the managing member of Shiram and he personally operated the hotel, are made by Appellant "on information and belief", meaning she only "believes the same to be true." [R.p. 15, 27]. Thus, even if the verified complaint were to be considered, which it was not and should not, these allegations are not certified to be true and correct and remain without any corroboration. Indeed, Appellant failed to submit a counter-affidavit as required by Illinois law.

Finally, Appellant contends the trial court erred by failing to give proper weight to the three documents printed off the internet. These documents lack any evidentiary value and are plainly insufficient to overcome the sworn affidavit of Sanjay Mishra. While their existence is noted in the trial court's order, they are properly afforded no weight by the judge. First, the record does not show these internet items were ever filed by the Appellant or even admitted into evidence. Second, these internet items are hearsay. Rule 801, SCRE. Third, they were not authenticated before the

trial court. Rule 901, SCRE. Fourth, they are irrelevant and lack any probative value. Rule 401, SCRE.

In this regard, the Facebook post is dated 2018, more three years *after* the purported date of substituted service, and is made by an unknown person with unknown qualifications to make any statement about Mike Mishra or Respondent. The LinkedIn post is even more absurd, as it is undated but printed in 2019 without any identification as to who made the entry or when, nor any information about the author. And the 2012 Hotel-Online.com article is unauthenticated, double hearsay and dated three years *prior* to the purported date of substituted service. In any event, the substance, admissibility, authentication, relevance and probative value of these internet items were not addressed by the trial court, and therefore Appellant's argument that these items should be considered on appeal is improper and not preserved. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71 (1998).

Similarly, Appellants arguments on appeal concerning the easement purportedly signed by Mike Mishra as stated in the Hotel-Online.com article, is unavailing as it is merely a bootstrapping grasp from the otherwise evidentiary deficient article without any corroboration. The purportedly numerous lawsuits involving Mike Mishra, as cited on appeal for the first time by Appellant, are also unavailing, as these too were never before the trial court, nor preserved for appeal, and do not reference or serve as evidence of agency.

In sum, the trial court order should be affirmed because the evidence before the court shows (i) Appellant failed to serve Respondent's registered agent as required by Illinois' Limited Liability Company Act, (ii) Mike Mishra was not an agent of Respondent, and (iii) Appellant failed to file any counter-affidavits (or other proper and admissible evidence) in response to the filed Affidavit of Sanjay Mishra. Once this court determines the evidence supports the trial court's order that Appellant failed to properly serve Respondent with the Illinois pleadings, this court's inquiry ends.

2. THE EVIDENCE SHOWS THE ILLINOIS COURT DID NOT HAVE JURISDICTION OF RESPONDENT PURSUANT TO THE ILLINOIS LONG ARM STATUTE OR DUE PROCESS.

Only if this court reverses the trial court's order on service, must it also determine whether Illinois had jurisdiction over Respondent under the Illinois long arm statute and federal due process.

The Illinois long arm statute, governs the exercise of personal jurisdiction by an Illinois court over a nonresident. 735 ILCS 5/209. Illinois courts will evaluate the Illinois long arm statute and the federal due process requirements similarly, and if the requirements of due process are not satisfied, then personal jurisdiction under the long-arm statute is not proper. *Russell v. SNFA*, 2013 IL 113909, 987 N.E.2d 778 (2013); *Young v. Ford Motor Co.*, 2017 IL App (4th) 170177, 90 N.E.3d 647 (Ct. App. 2017). Due process requires that the defendant have certain "minimum contacts" with the forum State such that maintenance of the suit there does not offend "traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice." *Id.*

In this case, Appellant seeks specific jurisdiction, which requires (1) the corporate, nonresident defendant must have minimum contacts with Illinois in that (a) it purposefully directed its activities at this state and (b) plaintiffs' claims arose from or related to those contacts with Illinois, and (2) it must be reasonable for Illinois to exercise jurisdiction over the defendant. *Russell v. SNFA*, 2013 IL 113909, 987 N.E.2d 778 (2013); *Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz*, 471 U.S. 462, 472, 105 S. Ct. 2174, 85 L. Ed. 2d 528 (1985); *World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson*, 444 U.S. 286, 292, 100 S. Ct. 559, 62 L. Ed. 2d 490 (1980).

A. Burden of Proof.

Under Illinois law, the plaintiff has the burden to establish a prima facie basis to exercise personal jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant. *Russell v. SNFA*, 2013 IL 113909, 987 N.E.2d 778 (2013). Any conflicts in the pleadings and affidavits must be resolved in the plaintiff's favor,

but the defendant may overcome plaintiff's prima facie case for jurisdiction by offering uncontradicted evidence that defeats jurisdiction. *Id.* "If facts alleged in a defendant's affidavit contesting jurisdiction are not refuted by a counter affidavit filed by the plaintiff, then those facts are accepted as true." *Aspen Am. Ins. Co. v. Interstate Warehouseing, Inc.*, 2016 IL App (1st) 151876, 57 N.E.3d 656 (2016)(emphasis added), *reversed on other grounds*, 2017 IL 121281, 418 Ill. Dec. 282, 90 N.E.3d 440(emphasis added).

Again, Appellant relies heavily on her Illinois verified complaint, and Respondent again notes this foreign pleading was not filed in this case, was not referenced to by Appellant in Appellant's memorandum or at the hearing as a document to be examined or relied upon, was not acknowledged by judicial notice or any other manner, and was not considered or referenced by the trial court. Thus, this court's review of the trial court's decision should be limited to the facts and information available at the time the order, which consisted of the oral descriptions given at the hearing, the Affidavit of Substituted Service and the Affidavit of Sanjay Mishra. Because Appellant failed to file any counter-affidavit to Respondent's Affidavit of Sanjay Mishra, the evidence before the trial court clearly defeats jurisdiction in this case.

B. Evidence Shows Respondent Did Not Purposefully Direct Its Activities at Illinois.

When evaluating minimum contacts, the purposeful availment requirement ensures that jurisdiction will not be obtained as the result of random, fortuitous, or attenuated contacts. *Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz*, 471 U.S. 462, 472, 105 S. Ct. 2174, 85 L. Ed. 2d 528 (1985). When parties have contacts based on a contractual or business relationship, factors relevant to purposeful availment include: (1) who initiated the transaction, (2) where the contract was entered into, and (3) where performance was to occur. *Aasonn, LLC v. Delaney*, 961 N.E.2d 939 (Ct. App. 2nd, 2011). Illinois recognizes a fourth factor, namely where the contract was negotiated, but will also consider the terms of the contract, the contemplated future consequences, and the parties' actual

course of dealing. *Khan v. Gramercy Advisors, LLC*, 2016 IL App. (4th) 150435, 61 N.E.3d 107 (2016).

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